
MINUTES OF THE PLAN COMMISSION 

July 28, 2014 

 

 

The regular meeting of the Plan Commission was called to order by Vice Chairman William 

Cotey at 7:02 p.m. at the Village Hall. 

 

Members present:  Vice Chairman William Cotey, Scott Adams, Walter Oakley, Kurt Schultz, 

and David Semmelman. 

 

Members absent:  Chairman Mark Moore and Dan Donahue. 

 

Village Staff present:  John Spoden, Director of Community Development; and David Smith, 

Senior Planner. 

 

Commissioner Semmelman moved, seconded by Commissioner Schultz, to approve the May 12, 

2014, Plan Commission meeting minutes. 

 

Motion carried 5 - 0. 

 

Commissioner Semmelman moved, seconded by Commissioner Schultz, to approve the May 19, 

2014, Plan Commission meeting minutes. 

 

Motion carried 5 - 0. 

 

Commissioner Semmelman moved, seconded by Commissioner Schultz, to approve the June 23, 

2014, Plan Commission meeting minutes. 

 

Motion carried 5 - 0. 

 

OLD BUSINESS: 
 

PC 14-10 North Shore Transit Inc. d/b/a Lakeside Transportation, Applicant 

  912 E. Park Avenue, Unit A 

 

Request is for a Special Use Permit for a Transportation and Warehouse use, 

including outdoor storage of vehicles use pursuant to such service, but limited to 

Transit and Ground Passenger Transportation, in order to allow the Lakeside 

Transportation school bus company to store their school buses in an I-3, General 

Industrial District. 

 

The applicant requested this item be continued to the August 25, 2014, Plan Commission 

meeting. 

 

In the matter of PC 14-10, Commissioner Oakley moved, seconded by Commissioner Adams, to 

continue this item to the August 25, 2014, Plan Commission meeting. 

 

Motion carried 5 - 0. 



Minutes of the July 28, 2014, Plan Commission Meeting 

Page 2 of 6 

 

Ayes:  Cotey, Adams, Oakley, Semmelman, Schultz 

Nays:  None 

Absent: Moore, Donahue 

 

PC 14-11 Village of Libertyville, Applicant 

 

Request is for a Text Amendment to Section 10 of the Libertyville Zoning Code 

relating to the parking requirements. 

 

Mr. David Smith, Senior Planner, presented downtown parking space and land use surveys.  Mr. 

Smith stated that it is important that the proposed text amendment addresses the following three 

points: (1) Continued economic vitality in the downtown by encouraging mixed retail and 

restaurant uses to occupy ground floor tenant spaces and office/residential uses in second and 

third floor building spaces.  (2) Continued preservation of Libertyville’s downtown historical 

buildings; and (3) Amend the parking regulations in order to improve the parking conditions in 

the downtown. 

 

Mr. Smith stated parking demand outweighs parking supply in the downtown but that the 

demand was defined and determined by the Zoning Code requirement for parking for land uses if 

those land uses were not in the C-1.  Mr. Smith made that distinction as the Zoning Code 

currently states that there is an exception from off-street parking requirements for existing 

buildings and uses in the C-1 Downtown Core Commercial District.  Mr. Smith stated that the 

Plan Commission asked Staff to review the downtown parking demand need based upon the 

Zoning Code requirement for the existing land uses.  He stated that the realistic definition of 

“Parking Demand” is more so reflected by the turnover of parking spaces in a particular period 

of time. 

 

Mr. Smith presented a table of existing restaurants to include those with outdoor dining and those 

that do not have outdoor dining in the downtown.  Mr. Smith stated that about half of the 

downtown restaurants have some form of outdoor dining. 

 

Mr. Smith stated that Village Staff surveyed available parking spots during the lunch hour on 

seven (7) different days and had identified many open or spaces not occupied by a parked 

vehicle.  Mr. Smith stated that consideration could be given to improving the downtown way-

finding public sign program in order to assist vehicles to find available parking such as the 

parking deck. 

 

Mr. John Spoden, Director of Community Development, stated that the available parking did 

shrink considerably during special event days.  He stated that one of the efforts that the Village 

can make is to approach First Presbyterian Church to see if they would be willing to lease land 

for additional employee parking.   

 

Mr. Spoden stated that the Village has approached PNC Bank for shared parking deck 

opportunity in order to locate a second parking deck in the adjacent Civic Center public parking 

lot. 

 



Minutes of the July 28, 2014, Plan Commission Meeting 

Page 3 of 6 

 

Commissioner Adams asked if there had been any consideration to building a parking deck on 

the library parking lot.  Mr. Spoden stated that due to the small size of the library lot, it would 

force a much taller parking deck and still get the needed number of parking spaces.   

 

Mr. Spoden stated that the Village has been working with the property owners of the Island Tap 

parking lot so that it could be rehabilitated, but it has been a challenge to get all owners to agree 

on design and location of employee and resident parking spaces.  He stated that 4 out of 10 

owners have not signed lease agreements as of yet. 

 

Commissioner Adams asked about the Arden’s Furniture building and how many parking spaces 

are required if it changes to a restaurant.  Mr. Spoden stated that by today’s Zoning Code 

regulations, they would not need any parking if no additional square footage is added.  He stated 

that this has been the Village’s major Economic Development tool for the downtown, to not 

require parking when a downtown building changes land uses.  He stated that it is Staff’s 

recommendation to leave this aspect of the Code intact. 

 

Mr. Spoden stated that the proposal for the text amendment is to eliminate the section of the 

Code that allows the first 1,500 square feet of new floor area shall not require parking spaces.  

He stated that if new outdoor dining areas exceed 500 square feet, then it should require 

additional parking. 

 

Commissioner Oakley asked how does the removing of the 1,500 square feet exemption help or 

hurt.  Mr. Spoden stated in theory it could hurt the smaller business seeking to do a small 

addition.  He stated that the Code is currently set up to not require parking for employees, it is 

solely based upon square footage. 

 

Chairman Cotey asked how valet parking may have an impact on the downtown parking 

regulations.  Mr. Spoden stated the Village has issued two licenses in recent times.  He stated 

that it is up to the business to identify where the valet service would park the cars.  He stated that 

the issue of concern is where the loading would take place as it is prohibited along Milwaukee 

Avenue.  He stated that in many cases, loading would have to take place behind the building.   

 

Chairman Cotey stated that consideration could be given to establishing a trolley system.  He 

stated that the restaurants could buy into it to help off-set the costs.   

 

Commissioner Adams stated that when MainStreet utilized a trolley, they sold sponsorship to 

off-set the costs.  He stated that he is concerned about the Arden building opening as a restaurant 

and the O’Toole’s restaurant opening and the parking demand that will come from that.   

 

Mr. Spoden stated that the current parking regulations have allowed Arden’s, O’Toole’s and 

Pizzeria Deville to seek occupancy which is a great economic driving force in the downtown, but 

does create a challenge for the downtown parking supply, it is a dilemma.   

 

Chairman Cotey stated that consideration should be given to revising the Zoning Code to require 

valet parking.   

 



Minutes of the July 28, 2014, Plan Commission Meeting 

Page 4 of 6 

 

Commissioner Adams asked where restaurants are told they can valet park.  Mr. Spoden stated 

that many times the restaurant is advised to develop valet parking locations on their own.  

 

Commissioner Adams stated that a more structured policy for valet parking should be 

considered.  He stated that the commuter lot in the evenings or weekends could be given 

consideration for valet parking.   

 

Mr. Spoden stated that it may be more appropriate to study this issue as a policy more so than a 

Code requirement.   

 

Mr. Spoden stated that this might also be a good time to address the Village’s outdoor dining 

policy. 

 

Commissioner Adams stated that he is concerned about people stopping their vehicles to unload 

in front of Mickey Finn’s on Milwaukee Avenue as it is too dangerous.   

 

Commissioner Schultz asked if there is any type of parking management system in place at the 

parking deck.  Mr. Spoden stated that no such system is in place at this time. 

 

Commissioner Schultz stated that a parking management system that informs users of the 

available spaces provided should be considered for the new deck.  He asked what type of way-

finding signage could be considered for people looking to park their vehicles.   

 

Mr. Spoden stated that the Parking Commission is currently exploring the way-finding signage 

issue. 

 

Chairman Cotey asked Staff if they would like for the Plan Commission to render their 

recommendation to the Village Board.  Mr. Spoden stated that he would like for the Plan 

Commission to render their recommendation to the Village Board for the proposed text 

amendment. 

 

In the matter of PC 14-11, Commissioner Semmelman moved, seconded by Commissioner 

Schultz, to recommend the Village Board of Trustees approve a Text Amendment to Section 10 of 

the Libertyville Zoning Code relating to the parking requirements, as follows: 

 

 Eliminate Section 10-1.2(d) Exception for the C-1 Downtown Core Commercial District 

in its entirety.  

 

 Strike text from Section 10-1.2(a) the following text as shown below: 

 

Eating Places, excluding one (1) for each one hundred (100) square feet of  

drive-in establishments floor area, excluding outdoor dining area, with a 

minimum of ten (10)  

 

  



Minutes of the July 28, 2014, Plan Commission Meeting 

Page 5 of 6 

 

Eating Places, including  one (1) for each one hundred (100) square feet of 

floor area, excluding outdoor dining area, PLUS 

one (1) lane for each drive-up window with stacking 

space for six (6) vehicles before the menu board 

 

 Add the following text as indicated bold type face to the definition of FLOOR AREA in 

Section 2-2: 

 

FLOOR AREA.  The sum of the gross horizontal areas of all floors of a building 

or of such area devoted to a specific use, measured from the exterior face of 

exterior walls or from the center line of walls separating two buildings or uses.  

Gross floor area shall include areas such as outdoor dining areas that exceed 

500 square feet in area; basement floors; elevator shafts and stairwells at each 

floor; floor spaces and shafts used for mechanical, electrical, and plumbing 

equipment, except equipment located on the roof; attic floors; interior balconies 

and mezzanines; enclosed porches and floor space used for accessory uses; 

provided, however, that gross floor area shall include only floor area that has a 

floor to ceiling height of not less than seven feet over a floor area having no 

horizontal dimension less than seven feet.  Gross floor area shall not include floor 

area devoted to off-street parking or loading within a building or structure, except 

when accessory to a single family dwelling.  Any floor space devoted to: 

 

Motion carried 5 - 0. 

 

Ayes:  Cotey, Adams, Oakley, Schultz, Semmelman 

Nays:  None 

Absent: Moore, Donahue 

 

NEW BUSINESS: 

 

PC 14-14 Manchester Square LLC, Applicant 

  115 Lake Street 

 

Request is for a Special Use Permit for a Planned Development in order to construct 

multiple dwelling units on the second and third floor of the Manchester Square 

building located at the southwest corner of Lake Street and Milwaukee Avenue in 

the C-1, Downtown Core Commercial District. 

 

PC 14-15 Manchester Square LLC, Applicant 

  115 Lake Street 

 

Request is for a Planned Development Concept Plan in order to construct multiple 

dwelling units on the second and third floor of the Manchester Square building 

located at the southwest corner of Lake Street and Milwaukee Avenue in the C-1, 

Downtown Core Commercial District. 



Minutes of the July 28, 2014, Plan Commission Meeting 

Page 6 of 6 

 

PC 14-16 Manchester Square LLC, Applicant 

  115 Lake Street 

 

Request is for a Planned Development Final Plan in order to construct multiple 

dwelling units on the second and third floor of the Manchester Square building 

located at the southwest corner of Lake Street and Milwaukee Avenue in the C-1, 

Downtown Core Commercial District. 

 

PC 14-17 Manchester Square LLC, Applicant 

  115 Lake Street 

 

Request is for a Special Use Permit for Payment in Lieu of providing park spaces in 

order to construct multiple dwelling units on the second and third floor of the 

Manchester Square building located at the southwest corner of Lake Street and 

Milwaukee Avenue in the C-1, Downtown Core Commercial District. 

 

Due to improper notification by the Village, this item will be re-noticed for the August 11, 2014, 

Plan Commission meeting. 

 

COMMUNICATIONS AND DISCUSSION: 
 

Mr. John Spoden, Director of Community Development, stated that the Motorola building has 

been sold.  He also stated that there is an American Planning Association conference coming in 

October that the Plan Commission members could consider attending. 

 

Commissioner Oakley moved, seconded by Commissioner Schultz, to adjourn the Plan 

Commission meeting. 

 

Motion carried 5 - 0. 

 

Meeting adjourned at 8:45 p.m. 


